Page 1 of 74

RECEIVED 04-24-2020 CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

MARK JEFFERSON and THE REPUBLICAN PARTY OF WISCONSIN,

Appeal No. 2020AP557-OA

Petitioners,

v.

DANE COUNTY, WISCONSIN and SCOTT MCDONNELL, in his official capacity as Dane County Clerk,

Respondents.

Original Action in the Wisconsin Supreme Court

INITIAL BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PETITIONERS MARK JEFFERSON AND THE REPUBLICAN PARTY OF WISCONSIN

ISSUES

1. Do Respondents have the authority to issue an interpretation of Wisconsin's election law allowing voters in Dane County to vote absentee without a photo ID?

By their concession in their response to the original action petition and their stipulation filed in this action, Respondents concede that they lack the authority to issue an interpretation of Wisconsin's election law allowing voters in Dane County to vote absentee without a photo ID.

2. Does Emergency Order #12, the "Safer at Home" Order, authorize all Wisconsin voters—regardless of whether they are actually "indefinitely confined" or actually suffering a "physical illness or infirmity" due to COVID-19—to vote absentee without a photo ID?

By their concession in their response to the original action petition and their stipulation filed in this action, Respondents concede that Emergency Order #12 does not authorize all Wisconsin voters—regardless of whether they are actually "indefinitely confined" or actually suffering a "physical illness or infirmity" due to COVID-19—to vote absentee without a photo ID.

3. May an elector who is not indefinitely confined because of age, physical illness or infirmity and who is not disabled for an indefinite period obtain an absentee ballot under Wis. Stat. § 6.86(2)(a) due to the COVID-19 pandemic?

Respondents assert that their statements concerning obtaining an absentee ballot by claiming "indefinitely confined" voter status are consistent with the statutes, Wis. Stat. §§ 6.86 and 6.87. That legal issue is presented by this original action, is disputed, and is therefore ripe for decision by the Court.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This case will meet the criteria for publication because a decision of the Supreme Court considering and applying the "indefinitely confined" elector language of Wis. Stat. § 6.86(2)(a) will be of statewide interest beyond simply the parties to this action and will provide guidance that will be of interest and assistance in future elections for municipal clerks, voters, the Wisconsin Elections Commission, and others in Wisconsin. Oral argument is not necessary for determination of this original action, as two of the issues are conceded, and the remaining statutory interpretation issue can readily be decided on the briefs. Petitioners ask the Court to decide this case on the briefs.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The original action petition granted by this Court presents issues of compelling statewide concern involving the April 7 election and the rules that govern the conduct of elections in Wisconsin. Respondents, government officials with actual and apparent authority to administer the election, issued statements advising electors that they may obtain absentee ballots without providing photo identification on the basis that they are "indefinitely confined" because of age, physical illness, infirmity, or disability, due to the COVID-19 pandemic and based upon Executive branch orders issued in response to the pandemic.

As a result of these widely distributed statements, voters submitted applications for absentee ballots on the "indefinitely confined" basis, and obtained absentee ballots without providing a photo ID, even though they were not themselves physically ill, infirm, elderly, or disabled.

Claiming that status without a basis to do so constitutes a false certification in the ballot application, which is a violation of the Wisconsin Statutes. Further, all of these persons are now designated indefinitely confined voters, meaning that absentee ballots will be sent to them automatically for every future election unless the indefinitely confined certification is withdrawn by the voter.

1. **Proceedings in This Action**

On March 27, 2020, Petitioners Mark Jefferson and the Republican Party of Wisconsin filed an emergency petition for leave to commence an original action in the Supreme Court along with a motion for temporary injunction and a memorandum supporting the petition. This action involves public statements made by Scott McDonell in his official capacity as Dane County Clerk (the "Clerk" or "Respondent McDonell") that the Safer at Home Emergency Order #12 issued by the Department of Health Services allows all voters to declare they are "indefinitely confined" under Wis. Stat. § 6.86(2)(a) and, thus, vote absentee without providing a photo ID regardless of whether they are actually suffering a "physical illness or infirmity."

Page 14 of 74

Petitioners have asked this Court to issue a declaratory judgment that Emergency Order #12 does not and cannot affect the rules and procedures under Wisconsin's election laws, that Respondents lack the authority to issue an interpretation of Wisconsin's election laws allowing voters in Dane County to vote absentee without providing a photo ID, and that Emergency Order #12, in fact, does not authorize all Wisconsin voters to vote absentee without a photo ID where the statutory definition of indefinite confinement is not satisfied. Petitioners also requested a preliminary injunction ordering the Dane County Clerk to remove his erroneous interpretation from public display and to issue new statements correcting that interpretation.

On March 30, 2020, Respondents filed a response to the original action petition and motion for temporary injunction. While Respondents conceded some of the fundamental premises of Petitioners' position (see below), they opposed the petition and the injunction request. They argued that this matter does not qualify for this Court's original jurisdiction, raising issues of exhaustion of remedies and mootness. As directed by the Court, Petitioners

responded to those issues in a reply brief filed on April 7,

2020.

The Court, unpersuaded by Respondents' points of opposition, unanimously determined that the matters presented by this action were appropriate for the Court's immediate determination, and granted Petitioners' motion for injunctive relief. In its order issued on March 31, 2020, the Court explained the requested relief:

> The temporary injunction the petitioners seek would order respondent, Scott McDonell, the Dane County Clerk, to remove a March 25, 2020 Facebook post in which he indicated, inter alia, that all Dane County voters could declare themselves to be "indefinitely confined" under Wis. Stat. § 6.86(2) due to illness solely because of the Wisconsin Department of Health Services Emergency Order #12 (the Safer at Home Order) and difficulties in presenting or uploading a valid proof of identification, thereby avoiding the legal requirement to present or upload a copy of the voter's proof of identification when requesting an absentee ballot. The petitioners further ask this court to order respondent McDonell and respondent Dane County to issue new statements setting forth the statutory interpretation proposed by the petitioners.

(App.2); (3/31/2020 Order at 2) (footnote omitted).

In its March 31st Order, the Court granted the motion

for temporary injunction and ordered Respondent McDonell

"to refrain from posting advice as the County Clerk for Dane

County inconsistent with ... WEC guidance." (App.3);

(3/31/2020 Order at 3). The Court further concluded, in part, "that clarification of the purpose and proper use of the indefinitely confined status pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 6.86(2) … [is] warranted." (App.2); (3/31/2020 Order at 2). The Court stated that the guidance of the Wisconsin Elections Commission ("WEC") published on March 29, 2020 "provides the clarification on the purpose and proper use of the indefinitely confined status that is required at this time." (*Id.*)

On April 1, 2020, the Court issued an order granting the petition for leave to commence an original action and ordered, among other things, that Petitioners file a reply to Respondents' response brief. (App.4); (4/1/2020 Order).

On April 2, 2020, Respondents filed a pleading entitled "Stipulation of Dane County as to Issues of Law Raised by Petitioner." (App.7). In that pleading, Respondents reference the statement of issues presented in the original action petition and Respondents "stipulate that the two propositions ... are an accurate statement of the law." (App.8); (4/2/2020 Stipulation at 2).

Specifically, Respondents stipulate:

(1) that Respondents lack the authority to issue an interpretation of Wisconsin's election law allowing voters in Dane County to vote absentee without a photo ID; and

(2) that the Governor's Emergency Order 12, Safer at Home Order, does not authorize all Wisconsin voters—regardless of whether they are actually "indefinitely confined" or actually suffering a "physical illness or infirmity" due to COVID-19 to vote absentee without a photo ID.

(*Id.*).

2. <u>The April 7 Election.</u>

Wisconsin's Spring Election was held on April 7, 2020. *See* WEC, Spring 2020 Election and Presidential Preference Primary, at <u>https://elections.wi.gov/</u>; *see also*

(App.51); (App.52).

By late March 2020, the Spring Election was already well underway. As of March 27, 2020, Wisconsin had received more than 750,000 absentee ballot requests. *See* WEC, Absentee Requests for April 7 Spring Election (Mar. 27, 2020), available at <u>https://elections.wi.gov/node/6783;</u> Craig Gilbert, "In a state used to political drama, Wisconsin's April 7 election is awash in doubt, dispute and uncertainty," *Milwaukee J. Sent.* (Mar. 26, 2020), available at https://www.jsonline.com/story/news/politics/analysis/2020/0 <u>3/26/wisconsin-election-becomes-test-case-voting-</u> <u>coronavirus-crisis/2916908001/</u>. Registered voters were permitted to continue requesting absentee ballots through April 3, 2020. *See* WEC, Federal Court Order Affects Spring Election –Absentee Ballot Request and Receipt Deadlines Extended COVID-19, available at https://elections.wi.gov/node/6807 (April 2 deadline

extended to April 3 by federal district court ruling).

In March 2020, states across the country began taking measures to address the spread of COVID-19 (the coronavirus). On March 24, 2020, the Department of Health Services ("DHS") issued Emergency Order #12, the "Safer at Home Order." *See* (App.9-24); (EO #12). That Order provides that "individuals present within the State of Wisconsin are ordered to stay at home or at their place of residence." (App.10); (EO #12, § 1).

Emergency Order #12, however, includes numerous exceptions to the direction to stay at home. Individuals in Wisconsin may, for example, leave their homes to get groceries and household products, travel to and work at businesses that provide essential services, and engage in outdoor leisure activities. (App.1, 10-20, 23-24).

Page 19 of 74

Individuals may leave their homes for essential government functions (broadly defined to include "all services provided by the State, tribal, or local governments needed to ensure the continuing operation of the government body and provide and support the health, safety, and welfare of the public"). (App.16; EO #12 § 12). Residents also may leave home to get groceries and household products, travel to and work at businesses that provide essential services, and engage in outdoor leisure activities. (App.10, 15-16); (EO #12 §§ 1, 11).

3. <u>Respondents' Statement Concerning</u> <u>Requesting Absentee Ballots on Indefinitely</u> Confined Voter Grounds.

On March 25, 2020, the next day, Respondent Dane

County Clerk Scott McDonell issued the following statement

on his Facebook page:

I have informed Dane County Municipal Clerks that during this emergency and based on the Governors Stay at Home order <u>I am declaring</u> <u>all Dane County voters may indicate as needed</u> <u>that they are indefinitely confined due to illness.</u> This declaration will make it easier for Dane County voters to participate in this election by mail in these difficult times. <u>I urge all voters</u> <u>who request a ballot and have trouble</u> <u>presenting [a] valid ID to indicate that they are indefinitely confined.</u> People are reluctant to check the box that says they are indefinitely confined but this is a pandemic....

The process works like this:

• A voter visits myvote.wi.gov to request a ballot.

• A voter can select a box that reads "I certify that I am indefinitely confined due to age illness, infirmity or disability and request ballots be sent to me for every election until I am on longer confined or fail to return a ballot.["]

• The voter is then able to skip the step of uploading an ID in order to receive a ballot for the April 7 election.

<u>Voters are confined due to the COVID-19</u> <u>illness.</u> When the Stay at Home order by the Governor is lifted, the voter can change their designation back by contacting their clerk or updating their information in myvote.wi.gov.

Voters who are able to provide a copy of their ID should do so and not indicate that they are indefinitely confined.

(App.25) (emphasis added). On March 25, the Clerk also e-

mailed the same announcement and instructions to all clerks

responsible for administering elections in the municipalities

within Dane County. (App.47).

Later in the day on March 25, 2020, Milwaukee

County Clerk George L. Christenson issued a similar

statement on the Office of the Milwaukee County Clerk's

Facebook page:

<u>I have informed municipal clerks in Milwaukee</u> <u>County</u> that during this emergency, and based on the Governor's Safer at Home Order as well as guidance from the Wisconsin Election Commission, <u>that it is appropriate that</u> <u>Milwaukee County voters requesting an</u> <u>absentee ballot may declare themselves as</u> <u>indefinitely confined to their homes. By</u> <u>declaring themselves indefinitely confined, it</u> <u>will be easier for Milwaukee County voters to</u> <u>participate in this election by mail in these</u> <u>difficult times.</u>

<u>I urge all voters who request a ballot and do not</u> <u>have the ability or equipment to upload a valid</u> <u>ID to indicate that they are indefinitely</u> <u>confined. Voters should not be reluctant to</u> <u>check the box that says they are indefinitely</u> <u>confined because this is a pandemic and this</u> option exists in state law to help preserve everyone's right to vote.

The process works like this:

• A voter visits myvote.wi.gov to request a ballot.

• A voter can select a box that reads "I certify that I am indefinitely confined due to age, illness, infirmity, or disability and request ballots to be sent to me for every election until I am no longer confined or fail to return a allot."

• The voter is then able to skip the step of uploading an ID in order to receive a ballot for April 7th election.

Voters are confined to their homes due to <u>COVID-19 illness.</u> When the Safer at Home Order by the Governor is lifted, the voter can change the designation back by contacting their municipal clerk or by updating their information on myvote.wi.gov.

(App.30-31) (emphasis added). This announcement appeared on Milwaukee County letterhead, and apparently it was circulated to all clerks responsible for elections in all the municipalities within the county. *See* (App.46).

Prior to March 27, 2020, the WEC did not issue any similar pronouncements concerning the indefinitely confined voter issue. *See generally* Wisconsin Elections Commission, "Recent Clerk Communications," at <u>https://elections.wi.</u> gov/clerks/recent-communications; *see also* Wisconsin Elections Commission, "COVID-19 FAQs and Updates: Online Voter Registration, Absentee Voting, Envelopes, Sanitizer and Poll Worker Recruitment" (Mar. 22, 2020), available at <u>https://elections.wi.gov/node/6764</u>.

4. <u>Official WEC Guidance on Indefinitely</u> <u>Confined Electors.</u>

The Dane County Clerk's and the Milwaukee County Clerk's announcements apparently were widely circulated, and they engendered confusion, giving rise to many questions. *See* (App.36, 40); (App.43, 44) (noting that as of March 27, WEC received "numerous inquiries regarding the

application of the indefinitely confined designation for absentee voters" and it received "numerous questions from clerks about the increase in voters requesting absentee ballots as indefinitely confined.")

The WEC promptly acted to clear up this confusion. As noted in Respondents' Response to the petition for original action ("Resp."), WEC met in emergency session on March 27 to issue "new guidance" concerning the indefinitely confined voter issue. (App.34-37) (hereafter, "WEC Proposed Guidance"). The WEC Proposed Guidance was discussed at the March 27 meeting. The Proposed Guidance reported that WEC staff received "numerous questions" from clerks about the increase in the voters requesting absentee ballots as indefinitely confined. (App.36); (App.40).

The WEC Proposed Guidance "propose[d] the following additional guidance intended to clarify the purpose and proper use of the indefinitely confined status under Wis. Stat. § 6.86(2)." (App.36). That Proposed Guidance included the following explanations:

 Designation of indefinitely confined status is for each individual voter to make based upon their current circumstance. It does not require permanent or total inability to travel outside of the residence. The designation is appropriate for electors who are indefinitely confined because of age, physical illness or infirmity or are disabled for an indefinite period.

2. Indefinitely confined status shall not be used by electors simply as a means to avoid the photo ID requirement without regard to whether they are indefinitely confined because of age, physical illness, infirmity or disability.

(App.36); (App.41).

Points 1 and 2 of the WEC Proposed Guidance were

adopted by the WEC and are included in WEC's

Memorandum "Guidance on Indefinitely Confined Voters"

(Mar. 29, 2020). (App.43). See Clerk Communications,

March 29, 2020 Memorandum, at

https://elections.wi.gov/node/6788); see also Memorandum,

available at

https://elections.wi.gov/sites/elections.wi.gov/files/2020-03/C lerk%20comm%20re.%20Indefinitely%20Confined%203.29. 20.pdf)

The March 29 Memorandum setting forth the guidance adopted by the WEC is referred to as "the Official WEC Guidance." The Official WEC Guidance states that it "is based upon applicable statutes." (App.44). It further states: "An elector who is indefinitely confined because of age, physical illness or infirmity or is disabled for an indefinite

period may be signing a statement to that effect require that an absentee ballot be sent to the elector automatically for every election. *Wis. Stat.* § 6.86(2)(a)." (*Id.*)

The Official WEC Guidance notes that voters "selfcertify" whether they meet the definition of "indefinitely confined." (App.44). "The absentee ballot request form asks voters to certify to their indefinitely confined status." $(Id.)^1$ It notes that the statutes do not establish an option to require proof or documentation (*i.e.*, photo ID) from indefinitely confined voters. (*Id.*) The Official WEC Guidance provides that voters should not claim indefinitely confined status as a means to avoid the photo ID requirement otherwise applicable to absentee ballot applications. *See* (App.43).

5. <u>WEC Declined to Connect Indefinitely</u> <u>Confined Voter Status to the Ability to</u> <u>Obtain a Copy of the Voter's Photo ID.</u>

The WEC Proposed Guidance included the following explanation connecting "indefinitely confined" status to the inability to obtain a copy of the voter's photo ID:

3. Under the unique circumstances of the current public health crisis which includes a global pandemic and official restrictions on the travel of Wisconsin residents, In [sic] cases where an elector may possess a

¹ Form EL-121, Wisconsin Application for Absentee Ballot, is included in the Appendix. (App.60).

photo ID, but does not have the technology to upload a copy or access to a printer or scanner to provide a copy of their ID, the voter may make the individual determination that they qualify as indefinitely confined. If required, electors should attempt to provide a photo ID with their request for an absentee ballot. Submitting an absentee ballot request without a photo ID should be reserved for electors in this category who do not have a valid photo ID and who are unable to obtain one for reasons of age, illness, infirmity or disability or who are unable to obtain a copy to submit with their request or upload an image of the ID with their electronic request.

(App.36); (App.41).

Point 3 of the WEC Proposed Guidance was <u>not</u> adopted by the WEC, and thus that proposal did not become part of the Official WEC Guidance. *Compare* (App.41) *to* (App.43-45). The Official WEC Guidance does not suggest that indefinitely confined status may be claimed based upon the voter's inability to obtain a photo ID or a copy of such ID. *See* (*id.*)

6. <u>WEC Declined to Open an Investigation Into</u> <u>the Clerk's Statements Concerning</u> <u>Indefinitely Confined Voter Status.</u>

At its March 27th meeting, WEC members inquired whether an investigation against the Clerk should proceed on the issue of the Clerk's pronouncement concerning the indefinitely confined voter issue. However, a majority of the WEC declined to vote to open up or rule upon such matter.

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