Page 1 of 44

RECEIVED 05-01-2020 CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

MARK JEFFERSON AND THE REPUBLICAN PARTY OF WISCONSIN, Petitioners,

v.

Case No. 20 AP 0557-OA

DANE COUNTY, WISCONSIN, AND SCOTT MCDONELL, IN HIS OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS DANE COUNTY CLERK, Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF AND APPENDIX

David R. Gault, State Bar No. 1016374 Assistant Corporation Counsel Office of the Dane County Corporation Counsel 210 Martin Luther King, Jr. Blvd., Room 419 Madison, Wisconsin 53703 (608) 266-4355

Attorney for Respondents

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

ARGUMENT

I. THIS CASE IS MOOT AND SHOULD BE DISMISSED.

This case meets the classic definition of mootness and should be dismissed. "Appellate courts generally decline to reach moot issues, and if all issues on appeal are moot, the appeal should be dismissed." *Matter of Commitment of J.W.K.*, 2019 WI 54, § 12, 386 Wis. 2d 672, 927 N.W.2d 509, citing, *PRN Assocs. LLC v. DOA*, 2009 WI 53 ¶¶ 25, 29, 317 Wis. 2d 656, 766 N.W.2d 559. "An issue is moot when its resolution will have no practical effect on the underlying controversy." *Id.*, ¶ 11, quoting, *PRN Assocs. LLC*, 317 N.W.2d 656 ¶ 25, 766 N.W.2d 559, and citing *City of Racine v. J-T Enters. of Am., Inc.*, 64 Wis. 2d 691, 700, 221 N.W.2d 869 (1974). The court has also held that a question is moot when

"circumstances have rendered it purely academic. *PRN Assocs*. *LLC*, 317 N.W.2d 656, ¶ 29, 766 N.W.2d 559, quoting *State ex rel. Olson v. Litscher*, 2000 WI App 61 ¶ 3, 233 Wis. 2d 685, 608 N.W.2d 425. Perhaps the most relevant articulation of the mootness doctrine is found in *Fort Howard Paper Co. v. Fort Howard Corp.*, 273 Wis. 356, 360, 77 N.W.2d 773 (1956), quoting *Wisconsin Employment Relations Board v. Allis-Chalmers Workers Union*, 252 Wis. 436, 440, 32 N.W.2d 190 (1948):

> A moot case has been defined as one which seeks to determine an abstract question which does not rest upon existing facts or rights, or which seeks a judgment in a pretend controversy when in reality there is none, or one which seeks a decision in advance about a right before it has actually been asserted or contested, or a judgment upon some matter which when rendered for any cause cannot have any practical legal effect upon the existing controversy.

The Petitioners brought this case in relation to statements made by the Clerk in reference to absentee voting in the spring general election. Those statements related to the unique circumstances of the COVID-19 pandemic. The issues raised by the Petitioners were clarified by guidance issued by

WEC the same day this case was filed. (App. pp. 231-233) Even if there was some confusion caused by the original post, the Clerk immediately posted the guidance adopted by WEC on March 27th and included the statement "[v]oters should follow this guidance when determining whether they qualify to claim that they are indefinitely confined as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and declared public health emergency." (App., p. 234) This was raised in the County's Response to Emergency Petition for Original Action. (County Response, p. 27) After the court granted the Petition and took jurisdiction of the original action, the County filed a Stipulation that the admitted that the two propositions for which the Petitioners sought declaratory relief were accurate statements of the law. (App., pp. 235-236)

All that remains in this case is a newly contrived issue that is purely academic. The Petitioners seek a declaration of an abstract question that is not based on any existing facts, and is based on a hypothetical question. Furthermore, they seek "corrective action" for a pretend controversy when in fact there

Page 24 of 44

is none. They cite to no evidence to establish that any voter inappropriately claimed indefinitely confined status, and they compound that by presuming that such a voter would not duly notify their municipal clerk when they are no longer so confined as required by law.

This case resulted from a post on social media regarding the unique circumstances of the spring election. Hopefully we never have an election under the same circumstances we just encountered. To the extent it caused any confusion, it was cured by guidance issued by WEC. The Clerk promptly deleted his original post and stated that voters should follow WEC's guidance when determining whether they were indefinitely confined. Furthermore on March 31, 2020 this court issued an Order prohibiting the Clerk from posting any guidance as Dane County Clerk inconsistent with the WEC guidance. (Order dated March 31, 2020, p. 3) If that did not resolve the case, the County stipulated to all of the relief sought in the Petition. Now the Petitioners seek to litigate a new issue that is based upon a hypothetical for which there is no factual support.

This case is moot. There is no live controversy. It does not meet any of the five exceptions under which the court may elect to address moot issues. *Matter of Commitment of J.W.K.*, 386 Wis.2d 672, ¶12. Of course issues regarding elections are of great public importance. Butt, if guidance is needed in the future regarding indefinitely confined voters, WEC should be allowed to perform its statutory function. The court should not entertain a hypothetical controversy. This court should dismiss the third issue raised by Petitioners and their request for corrective action because they are moot, abstract and not supported by any facts or existing controversy.

II. THE PETITIONERS' THIRD ISSUE AND CLAIM FOR "CORRECTIVE ACTION" ARE NOT JUSTICIABLE.

The Petitioners request a declaration regarding the application of Wis. Stat. § 6.86(2)(a) to future elections based upon hypothetical "facts." They also seek corrective action regarding voters who may have claimed indefinitely confined

status for the 2020 spring election based upon totally unsupported allegations. These allegations are not ripe for adjudication. Additionally, the Dane County Respondents are not the proper party to contest the Petitioners' claims, and this case is missing indispensable parties.

A court must determine a controversy is justiciable

before considering the merits of a claim. Waukesha Memorial

Hospital, Inc. v. Baird, 45 Wis. 2d 629, 633, 173 N.W.2d 700

(1970). Four factors must exist before a request for declaratory

relief is justiciable:

(1) A controversy in which a claim of right is asserted against one who has an interest in contesting it.

(2) The controversy must be between persons whose interests are adverse.

(3) The party seeking declaratory relief must have a legal interest in the controversy – that is to say, a legally protectable interest.

(4) The issue involved in the controversy must be ripe for judicial determination.

Miller Brands – Milwaukee, Inc. v. Case, 162 Wis. 2d 684, 694,

470 N.W.2d 290 (1991), citing Loy v. Bunderson, 107 Wis. 2d

400, 410, 320 N.W.2d 175 (1982). All four of these factors

must be satisfied before a controversy is justiciable and "proper for a court to entertain an action for declaratory judgment." *Id.*

A. <u>Petitioners Remaining Claims Are Not Ripe For</u> <u>Adjudication.</u>

The Petitioners third request for declaratory judgment is based upon hypothetical and assumed facts and is not ripe for adjudication. What the Petitioners seek is an advisory opinion, which this court should not entertain.

It is well settled that the Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act, Wis. Stat. § 806.04, "does not compel or permit the courts to give advisory opinions and they properly refuse judgments unless the pleadings present a justiciable controversy ripe for judicial determination." *Skowan v. Skowan*, 259 Wis. 17, 19, 47 N.W.2d 326 (1951). "Courts will not declare rights until they have become fixed under any existing state of facts nor will they determine future rights in anticipation of an event that may never happen. *Id.*, citing, *Heller v. Shapiro*, 208 Wis. 310, 242 N.W. 174 (1932); *Village of Sun Prairie v. Wisconsin Power & Light Co.*, 213 Wis. 277, 251 N.W. 605 (1933). See also, *State ex rel. Wisconsin Senate v. Thompson*, 144 Wis. 2d 429, 432, n.1, 424 N.W.2d 385 (1988) [Issue raised in original action not a justiciable controversy because not ripe for adjudication.]

The ripeness component of justiciability "requires that the facts be sufficiently developed to avoid courts entangling themselves in abstract disagreements." All adjudicatory facts need not be certain, but they cannot be "so contingent and uncertain." *Miller Brands-Milwaukee, Inc.,* 162 Wis. 2d at 694-95, 470 N.W.2d 290, citing *Loy*, 107 Wis. 2d at 412, 414.

In *Miller Brands-Milwaukee, Inc.*, the "facts" provided by Miller-Brands were generalizations of practices in the brewing industry, but did not include any specific factual allegation. *Id.*, at 689-90. The court held that the case was not ripe for adjudication because the "facts" provided the court were merely hypothetical. *Id.*, at 695. The court concluded that the "facts' provided by Miller Brands may or may not have occurred." *Id.*, at 696.

In Waukesha Memorial Hospital, the court also considered the "factual circumstances" necessary for a ripe

23

Page 29 of 44

controversy. In that case hospital staff brought an action against police officers in Waukesha County requesting a declaratory judgment that law enforcement did not have the right to order physicians and their employees to take blood specimens to determine a person's blood alcohol level. *Waukesha Memorial Hospital*, 45 Wis. 2d at 631-32. Hospital personnel had been threatened with prosecution for refusing to aid an officer under Wis. Stat. § 946.40. The court noted "that statute is highly subjective in nature." *Id.*, at 641. The language of that statute is particularly relevant to the application of that case's holding:

946.40 Refusing to aid officer. (1) Whoever, without reasonable excuse, refuses or fails, upon command, to aid any person known to him to be a peace officer may be fined not more than \$100. (2) This section does not apply if under the circumstances the officer was not authorized to command such assistance.

The court found that "it is clear that we are not informed of facts, even hypothetically, which would enable this court to satisfactorily resolve the question of 'reasonable excuse' 'under the circumstances." *Id.* The court concluded that "[i]t

is clear what the plaintiffs ask is for an advisory opinion in which they wish the court to assume various hypothetical states of facts and determine their liability prospectively under each of these states of facts." *Id.*, 643.

Like the statute in question in Waukesha Memorial *Hospital*, Wis. Stat. § 6.86(2)(a) is highly subjective in nature. WEC issued guidance regarding § 6.86(2)(a) that stated "[designation if indefinitely confined status is for the individual voter to make based upon their current circumstances." (App., p. 232) The Respondents do not contest the validity of that guidance. Therefore, each individual voter must determine whether, under their unique circumstances, they are "indefinitely confined" due to "age," "physical illness," or "infirmity." This is not a situation that is ripe for a one size fits all blanket declaration of law. What the Petitioners request is more abstract than *Waukesha Memorial Hospital.* They seek an advisory opinion in which they wish the court to assume various hypothetical states of facts, to

determine whether a hypothetical future voter could be indefinitely confined under the statute.

The Petitioners request for declaratory judgment on the remaining issue is abstract, and based totally on hypothetical facts. As in *Miller* Brands, the "facts" asserted by the Petitioners may or may not have occurred. What they request is an advisory opinion as to when a voter can be indefinitely confined under a myriad of possible factual scenarios that at the end of the day are a subjective individual decision. The case is not ripe and is not justiciable, and should therefore be dismissed.

B. <u>Dane County Is Not The Proper Party To Defend</u> <u>The Claim For Declaratory Judgment.</u>

Dane County and the Clerk are not the proper party to contest the Petitioners' claim for declaratory relief. At most there is a difference of opinion between Petitioners and the County as to the application of Wis. Stat. § 6.86(2)(a). The Petitioners seek to impose their position on every voter in this state who may need to make their individual decision as to whether they are indefinitely confined due to age, physical

Page 32 of 44

illness, or infirmity. WEC is charged with administration of Wisconsin election laws. Wis. Stat. § 5.05(1). It may well be that they are an indispensable party to this action.

An action for declaratory judgment is only justiciable if: (1) it is "a controversy in which a claim of right is asserted against one who has an interest in contesting it;" and (2) 'the controversy must be between persons whose interests are adverse." Miller Brands-Milwaukee, Inc., 162 Wis. 2d at 694. In Wisconsin Pharmaceutical Ass'n v. Lee, 264 Wis. 325, 58 N.W.2d 700 (1952), this court considered whether those factors were met under analogous circumstances. In that case, the pharmacists' association sued the State Board of Pharmacy and its individual members to obtain a declaratory judgment interpreting a regulatory statute. The association sought to establish that the statute prohibited a practice whereby allegedly "unqualified employees of physicians were allowed to dispense drugs." Id., at 328. The court determined that it was not a justiciable controversy because it was "not against one who has an interest in contesting it, nor is it a controversy

27

between persons whose interests are adverse." *Id.* at 330. The court stated that "[a]t most there is a difference of opinion between the plaintiffs and defendants concerning the violation of a penal statute by persons not parties to this action." *Id.* Most significantly the court noted that "[t]he opinion of the defendants...is not conclusive as to whether or not the statute has been violated." *Id.* Rather, the court held that "[t]he real controversy is between plaintiffs and the physicians and employees" [those alleged to have violated the statute]. *Id.*

In this case neither the opinion of the Clerk or any County official is conclusive on whether a voter may claim indefinitely confined status under Wis. Stat § 6.86(2)(a). At most this is a difference of opinion between the Petitioners and the Respondents as to the meaning and application of the statute. The Petitioners case has not been brought against one who has an interest in contesting it, nor is it a controversy between persons whose interests are adverse, as this court has construed those factors. In Wisconsin Pharmaceutical Ass'n the court also determined that "there is a defect in the parties defendant." They determined that the indispensable party was missing. *Id.* The court quoted Section 11 of the declaratory judgment statute. *Id.*, at 331. That language is now found verbatim at

Wis. Stat. § 806.06(2)(a):

When declaratory relief is sought, all persons shall be made parties who have or claim any interest which would be affected by the declaration, and no declaration may prejudice the right of persons not parties to the proceeding.

The court also quoted at length Borchard, Declaratory

Judgments, pp. 104-107:

Aside from the necessity for proper parties plaintiff and defendant having conflicting legal interests in the controversy to be adjudicated, the procedure for a declaratory judgment vests in the courts a wide discretion to insist upon joining and impleading all parties they deem interested or likely to be affected by the decision, and to dismiss, usually without prejudice, a declaratory proceeding instituted without the presence of, or service upon, all such interested persons...

Id., 331. The court has repeatedly held 'that real parties in interest must be made parties before a declaratory judgment can be obtained." *Id.*, at 332, citing, *City of Madison v.*

Wisowaty, 211 Wis. 23, 247 N.W. 527 (1933); *Riebs Co. v. Mortenson*, 219 Wis. 393, 263 N.W. 169 (1935) and *State ex rel. Joyce v. Farr*, 236 Wis. 323, 295 N.W. 21 (1940).

Potentially every voter in Wisconsin has rights under Wis. Stat. § 6.86(2)(a). It is an individual decision for each voter to determine whether they are indefinitely confined for purposes of absentee voting. They alone should have the right to contest whether they meet the requirements of that statute. *Id.*, at 332. If the Petitioners know of a voter who they believe submitted an absentee ballot in violation of § 6.86(2)(a) they should bring an action against that person or persons. That would provide the concrete facts and a proper party to meet the requirements for justiciability. Dane County or its Clerk is not that proper party. This case is simply a request by a political party for an advisory opinion in an attempt to secure an advantage in future elections. As such, it should be dismissed.

III. THE PETITIONERS' REQUEST FOR CORRECTIVE ACTION IS UNSUPPORTED BY ANY FACTS IN THE RECORD.

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